1 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 1641
2 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com
LAW OFFICES OF
3 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.
376 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 140
4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX
5 Attorney for plaintiff/appellant

Electronically Filed
Dec 18 2015 10:58 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

6
7
8 SUPREME COURT
9 STATE OF NEVADA

10 SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 350
11 DURANGO 104,

No. 68630

12 Appellant,

13 vs.

14 WELLS FARGO HOME MORTGAGE,

15 Respondent.
16
17

18
19 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**
20

21 Michael F. Bohn, Esq.
22 Law Office of
Michael F. Bohn, Esq., Ltd.
23 376 East Warm Springs Rd., Ste. 140
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the nonjudicial foreclosure process in NRS Chapter 116 facially violates constitutional due process requirements.
2. Whether the extinguishment of defendant's deed of trust violates the takings clauses in the United States and Nevada Constitutions.
3. Whether the extinguishment of defendant's deed of trust violates public policy.
4. Whether the amount paid by plaintiff at the foreclosure sale provides grounds to set aside the foreclosure sale.
5. Whether the District Court erred in granting defendant's renewed motion to dismiss.
6. The standard of review for the court's dismissal of plaintiff's complaint is rigorous, and the court must construe the pleadings liberally and draw every fair intendment in favor of the plaintiff/appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 (hereinafter "plaintiff") filed a Complaint on September 12, 2013 asserting three claims for relief: 1) entry of an injunction prohibiting defendant Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, a Division of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (hereinafter "defendant") from foreclosing the deed of trust held by it; 2) entry of a judgment pursuant to NRS 40.010 determining that plaintiff was the rightful owner of the real property commonly known as 350 South Durango Road, Unit 104, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter "Property") and that the defendants had no right, title, interest or claim to the Property; 3) entry of a declaration that title to the Property was vested in plaintiff free and clear of all liens and that the defendant be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title, interest or claim to the Property. (JA1a, pgs. 1-8)

On April 13, 2015, defendant filed a renewed motion to dismiss plaintiff's complaint. (JA3c, Pgs. 686-715) On April 27, 2015, plaintiff filed an opposition to the motion to dismiss. (JA4a, pgs. 764-783) On June 4, 2015, defendant filed a reply

1 in support of renewed motion to dismiss plaintiff's complaint. (JA4b, pgs. 784-810)

2 At the hearing held on June 9, 2015, the court granted defendant's renewed
3 motion to dismiss on the grounds that the HOA foreclosure statute (NRS Chapter
4 116) violates the due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
5 United States Constitution and art. I, sec. 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution. See
6 transcript of hearing at JA4b, pgs. 822-826. A written order granting defendant's
7 motion to dismiss was filed on July 10, 2015. (JA4b, pgs. 814-818).

8 Paragraph 2 of the court's conclusions of law (JA4b, pg. 816) found that NRS
9 Chapter 116 violated the due process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments
10 of the United States Constitution because "the Statute does not require the foreclosing
11 party to take reasonable steps to ensure that actual notice is provided to interested
12 parties who are reasonably ascertainable (unless the interested party first requests
13 notice)." Paragraph 3 of the court's conclusions of law (JA4b, pg. 816) found that
14 NRS Chapter 116 violates art. I, sec. 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution for the same
15 reasons.

16 Paragraph 4 of the court's conclusions of law (JA4b, pgs. 816-817) found that
17 "reference to NRS 107.090 does not salvage the federal or state constitutionality of
18 the Statute because Plaintiff's construction of NRS107.090 as mandating notice to
19 lenders before foreclosure would render superfluous the express 'opt-in' notice
20 provisions contained in NRS 116.3116, in violation of rules of statutory
21 construction."

22 Notice of entry of the order was filed and served on July 13, 2015. (JA4, pgs.
23 811-818) Plaintiff filed its notice of appeal from the order on July 14, 2015. (JA4,
24 pgs. 819-820)

25 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

26 Plaintiff is the owner of the Property and obtained title to the Property by way
27 of a foreclosure deed recorded on June 17, 2013 (JA4a, pgs. 758-760).

28 Defendant is named as the lender in a deed of trust recorded against the

1 Property on August 11, 2003. (JA4a, pgs. 723-744)

2 On November 15, 2012, the agent for the Angel Point Condominiums
3 (hereinafter “HOA”) recorded a notice of delinquent assessment lien as instrument
4 # 201211150001932 with the County Recorder for Clark County, Nevada. (JA4a,
5 pg. 747) On January 18, 2013, the agent for the HOA recorded a notice of default and
6 election to sell under homeowners association lien. (JA4a, pgs. 748-749) On May 20,
7 2013, the agent for the HOA recorded a notice of foreclosure sale. (JA4a, pgs. 756-
8 757)

9 As reflected by the foreclosure deed recorded on June 17, 2013, at the public
10 auction held on June 14, 2013, plaintiff was the highest bidder and paid the bid
11 amount of \$6,900.00 in cash. (JA4a, pgs. 758-760)

12 **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

13 The language in NRS 116.3116(2) granted to the HOA a super priority lien that
14 extinguished defendant’s first deed of trust when plaintiff purchased the real property
15 at the HOA foreclosure sale held on June 14, 2013. The conclusive recitals in the
16 foreclosure deed recorded on June 17, 2013 prove that the HOA complied with all
17 requirements to make the deed “conclusive” against the defendant pursuant to NRS
18 116.31166(2).

19 The nonjudicial foreclosure process prescribed by NRS 116.31162 to NRS
20 116.31168, and by incorporation, NRS 107.090, does not violate the Due Process
21 Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution
22 and art. I, sec. 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution because no “state actor” participates
23 in the nonjudicial foreclosure process and because the HOA must mail copies of the
24 notice of default and notice of sale to holders of “subordinate” liens affected by the
25 sale even if they do not request notice.

26 The nonjudicial foreclosure process does not involve a “taking” of private
27 property for “public use” and does not violate public policy.

28 A nonjudicial foreclosure sale under NRS Chapter 116 is not required to be

1 “commercially reasonable” and cannot be set aside based solely on a claim that the
2 sale price was unconscionable.

3 STANDARD OF REVIEW

4 For the order dismissing plaintiff’s complaint, the Court’s review is rigorous,
5 and the court “must construe the pleading liberally and draw every fair intendment
6 in favor of the [non-moving party].” Vacation Village, Inc. v. Hitachi America, Ltd.,
7 110 Nev. 481, 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994).

8 ARGUMENT

9 **1. Defendant did not meet the requirements for the granting of a 10 motion to dismiss.**

11 In the case of Vacation Village, Inc. v. Hitachi America, Ltd., 110 Nev. 481,
12 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994), this Court adopted the following standards for
13 deciding a motion to dismiss:

14 All factual allegations of the complaint must be accepted as true. Capital
15 Mortgage Holding v. Hahn, 101 Nev. 314, 315, 705 P.2d 126 (1985). A
16 complaint will not be dismissed for failure to state a claim "unless it
17 appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts
which, if accepted by the trier of fact, would entitle him [or her] to
relief." Edgar v. Wagner, 101 Nev. 226, 228, 699 P.2d 110, 112 (1985)
(citing Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 102, 2
L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)).

18 In the present case, plaintiff alleged in paragraph 2 of its complaint that it
19 acquired title to the Property by a foreclosure deed recorded on June 17, 2013 (JA1a,
20 pg. 2), and plaintiff alleged in paragraph 7 of its complaint that the interest of each
21 of the defendants had been extinguished by the foreclosure sale conducted by the
22 HOA due to a delinquency in assessments owed by the former owners. (JA1a, pg. 3)

23 The first page of the foreclosure deed (JA4a, pg. 758) included the following
24 recitals:

25 Default occurred as set forth in a Notice of Default and Election to Sell,
26 recorded on 1/18/2013 as instrument # 0002571 Book 201300118 which
27 was recorded in the office of the recorder of said county. Nevada
28 Association Services, Inc. has complied with all requirements of law
including, but not limited to, the elapsing of 90 days, mailing of copies
of Notice of Delinquent Assessment and Notice of Default and the
posting and publication of the Notice of Sale.

1 Defendant presented no evidence disputing that the HOA complied with all
2 requirements for the nonjudicial foreclosure of its assessment lien pursuant to NRS
3 Chapter 116. Defendant also did not deny that in compliance with NRS Chapter 116,
4 the authorized agent for the HOA timely mailed to defendant a copy of the notice of
5 default and election to sell under homeowners association lien, recorded on January
6 18, 2013 (JA4a, pgs. 748-749) and a copy of the notice of foreclosure sale, recorded
7 on May 20, 2013 (JA4a, pgs. 756-757). Defendant also did not dispute that it did not
8 pay the amount of the HOA's super priority lien prior to the public auction held on
9 June 14, 2013.

10 Instead, the undisputed allegations in plaintiff's complaint prove that the
11 foreclosure of the HOA's super priority lien at the HOA sale held on June 14, 2013
12 extinguished any estate, right, title, interest or claim in the property held by defendant
13 and vested title to the real property in the plaintiff free of defendant's deed of trust.
14 SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d
15 408 (2014).

16 **2. Defendant's trust deed was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale.**

17 NRS 116.3116 provides in part:

18 **Liens against units for assessments.**

19 **1. The association has a lien on a unit for any construction penalty**
20 **that is imposed against the unit's owner pursuant to NRS 116.310305,**
21 **any assessment levied against that unit or any fines imposed against**
22 **the unit's owner from the time the construction penalty, assessment**
23 **or fine becomes due.** Unless the declaration otherwise provides, any
24 penalties, fees, charges, late charges, fines and interest charged pursuant
to paragraphs (j) to (n), inclusive, of subsection 1 of NRS 116.3102 are
enforceable as assessments under this section. If an assessment is
payable in installments, the full amount of the assessment is a lien from
the time the first installment thereof becomes due.

25 **2. A lien under this section is prior** to all other liens and
26 encumbrances on a unit **except:**

27 (a) Liens and encumbrances recorded before the recordation of the
28 declaration and, in a cooperative, liens and encumbrances which the
association creates, assumes or takes subject to;

1 (b) **A first security interest on the unit** recorded before the date on
2 which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent or, in a
3 cooperative, the first security interest encumbering only the unit's
owner's interest and perfected before the date on which the assessment
sought to be enforced became delinquent; and

4 (c) Liens for real estate taxes and other governmental assessments or
5 charges against the unit or cooperative.

6 **The lien is also prior to all security interests described in paragraph**
7 **(b) to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit**
8 **pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for**
9 **common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the**
10 **association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become**
11 **due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately**
12 **preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien,** unless federal
13 regulations adopted by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
14 or the Federal National Mortgage Association require a shorter period
15 of priority for the lien. If federal regulations adopted by the Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or the Federal National Mortgage
Association require a shorter period of priority for the lien, the period
during which the lien is prior to all security interests described in
paragraph (b) must be determined in accordance with those federal
regulations, except that notwithstanding the provisions of the federal
regulations, the period of priority for the lien must not be less than the
6 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the
lien. This subsection does not affect the priority of mechanics' or
materialmen's liens, or the priority of liens for other assessments made
by the association. (emphasis added)

16 NRS 116.3116 (2) provides that the super-priority lien for 9 months of charges
17 is "prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b)." The first deed of trust,
18 recorded on August 11, 2003, falls squarely within the language of paragraph (b).
19 The statutory language does not limit the nature of this "priority" in any way.

20 In its decision in the case of SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.,
21 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), this Court stated:

22 NRS 116.3116 gives a homeowners' association (HOA) a
23 superpriority lien on an individual homeowner's property for up to nine
24 months of unpaid HOA dues. With limited exceptions, this lien is "prior
25 to all other liens and encumbrances" on the homeowner's property, even
26 a first deed of trust recorded before the dues became delinquent. NRS
116.3116(2). We must decide whether this is a true priority lien such
that its foreclosure extinguishes a first deed of trust on the property and,
if so, whether it can be foreclosed nonjudicially. We answer both
questions in the affirmative and therefore reverse.

27 334 P.3d at 409.
28

At the conclusion of its opinion, this Court stated:

NRS 116.3116(2) gives an HOA a true superpriority lien, proper foreclosure of which will extinguish a first deed of trust. Because Chapter 116 permits nonjudicial foreclosure of HOA liens, and because SFR's complaint alleges that proper notices were sent and received, we reverse the district court's order of dismissal. In view of this holding, we vacate the order denying preliminary injunctive relief and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

Id. at 419.

Because the facts in the present case are substantially the same as the facts in SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., the district court should have found that the nonjudicial foreclosure of the HOA's super priority lien at the public auction held on June 14, 2013 extinguished the "first security interest" held by defendant.

3. There is a conclusive presumption that the foreclosure sale was properly conducted.

The detailed and comprehensive statutory requirements for a foreclosure sale are indicative of a public policy which favors a final and conclusive foreclosure sale as to the purchaser. See 6 Angels, Inc. v. Stuart-Wright Mortgage, Inc., 85 Cal. App. 4th 1279, 102 Cal. Rptr. 2d 711 (2011); McNeill Family Trust v. Centura Bank, 60 P.3d 1277 (Wyo. 2003); In re Suchy, 786 F.2d 900 (9th Cir. 1985); and Miller & Starr, California Real Property 3d §10:210. In the case of SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), this Court described the non-judicial foreclosure provisions of NRS Chapter 116 as "elaborate," and therefore supported the public policy favoring the finality of a foreclosure sale.

Additionally, there is a common law presumption that a foreclosure sale was conducted validly. Fontenot v. Wells Fargo Bank, 198 Cal. App. 4th 256, 129 Cal. Rptr. 3d 467 (2011); Moeller v. Lien 25 Cal. App. 4th 822, 30 Cal. Rptr. 2d 777 (1994); Burson v. Capps, 440 Md. 328, 102 A.3d 353 (2014); Timm v. Dewsnup 86 P.3d 699 (Utah 2003); Deposit Insurance Bridge Bank, N.A. Dallas v. McQueen, 804 S.W. 2d 264 (Tex. App. 1991); Myles v. Cox, 217 So.2d 31 (Miss. 1968); American

1 Bank and Trust Co v. Price, 688 So.2d 536 (La. App. 1996); Meeker v. Eufaula Bank
2 & Trust, 208 Ga. App. 702, 431 S.E. 2d 475 (Ga. App 1993).

3 Under Nevada law, the recitals in the foreclosure deed are sufficient and
4 conclusive proof that a default occurred and that the required notices were mailed by
5 the HOA. The first page of the foreclosure deed recorded on June 17, 2013 includes
6 each of the five recitals required by NRS 116.31166(1): (1) default, (2) mailing of the
7 delinquent assessment, (3) recording of the notice of default and election to sell, (4)
8 the elapsing of the 90 days, and (5) the giving of the notice of sale. (JA4a, Pg. 758)

9 The controlling statute, NRS 116.31166, provides:

10 **Foreclosure of liens: Effect of recitals in deed; purchaser not**
11 **responsible for proper application of purchase money; title vested**
in purchaser without equity or right of redemption.

12 1. **The recitals in a deed** made pursuant to NRS 116.31164 of:
13 (a) Default, the mailing of the notice of delinquent assessment, and
the recording of the notice of default and election to sell;
14 (b) The elapsing of the 90 days; and
(c) The giving of notice of sale,
are **conclusive proof of the matters recited.**

15 2. **Such a deed containing those recitals is conclusive against the**
16 **unit's former owner, his or her heirs and assigns, and all other persons.**
17 The receipt for the purchase money contained in such a deed is
sufficient to discharge the purchaser from obligation to see to the proper
18 application of the purchase money.

19 3. The sale of a unit pursuant to NRS 116.31162, 116.31163 and
116.31164 vests in the purchaser the title of the unit's owner without
20 equity or right of redemption. (emphasis added)

21 NRS 47.240(6) also provides that conclusive presumptions include "[a]ny other
22 presumption which, by statute, is expressly made conclusive." Because NRS
23 116.31166 contains such an expressly conclusive presumption, the recitals in the
24 foreclosure deed are "conclusive proof" that defendant was served with copies of the
25 notice of default and the notice of sale for the foreclosure sale. Defendant did not
26 deny that the HOA's agent mailed copies of both of the required notices to defendant.

27 In the case of Pro-Max Corp. v. Feenstra, 117 Nev. 90, 16 P.3d 1074 (2001),
28 the district court refused to apply the conclusive presumption contained in NRS

1 106.240 because “[t]he district court determined that the legislature intended for the
2 statute to protect bona fide purchasers.” This Court reversed the district court’s
3 judgment that the statute only protected bona fide purchasers and stated:

4 We conclude that the statute is clear and unambiguous. That being the
5 case, no further interpretation is required or permissible. Under the
6 plain language of the statute, the deeds of trust are conclusively
7 presumed to have been satisfied and the notes discharged. This
8 conclusive presumption is plain, clear and unambiguous. **No limitation
of the statute’s terms to bona fide purchasers can be read into the
statute.** (emphasis added)

117 Nev. at 95, 16 P.3d at 1078-79.

9 In the present case, NRS 116.31166(2) expressly provides that the foreclosure
10 deed vesting title in the plaintiff is “conclusive” and not subject to attack from any
11 party including the defendant. The defendant’s claims, if any, for any alleged failures
12 in the foreclosure process are against the foreclosure agent. See Moeller v. Lien 25
13 Cal. App. 4th 822, 832, 30 Cal. Rptr. 2d 777 (1994).

14 **4. The nonjudicial foreclosure process provided in NRS 116.31162
15 to 116.31168 does not violate due process because no state actor
participates in the foreclosure of an HOA assessment lien.**

16 At page 6 of its renewed motion to dismiss, defendant asserted that NRS
17 Chapter 116 has a “fatal flaw” because “none of its express notice provisions provide
18 for mandatory notice to lenders; despite the fact that their property rights are directly
19 threatened by an HOA’s non-judicial foreclosure.” (JA3c, pg. 691) In SFR
20 Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev., Adv. Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408
21 (2014), on the other hand, this Court stated that “[t]he contours of U.S. Bank’s due
22 process argument are protean” and that U.S. Bank’s argument that the statutory
23 scheme offended due process “is a nonstarter.” 334 P.3d at 418.

24 This Court has also stated that “[t]he general rule is that the Constitution does
25 not apply to private conduct.” S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 117 Nev. 403,
26 410, 23 P.3d 243, 247 (2001).

27 The United States Supreme Court agrees that in order for the “due process”
28 clause to be implicated, a “state actor” must participate. In Lugar v. Edmondson Oil

1 Co., Inc., 475 U.S. 922 (1982), the Supreme Court stated that “[o]ur cases have
2 accordingly insisted that the conduct allegedly causing the deprivation of a federal
3 right be fairly attributable to the State” and that “fair attribution” required a two-part
4 approach: 1) “the deprivation must be caused by the exercise of some right or
5 privilege created by the State”; and 2) “the party charged with the deprivation must
6 be a person who may fairly be said to be a state actor.” Id. at 937.

7 In Lugar, the Court found that “joint participation” between a private party and
8 the Clerk of the state court who issued a writ of attachment, which was then executed
9 by the County Sheriff, satisfied the “state actor” requirement. No “state actor” is
10 involved in the nonjudicial foreclosure process provided by NRS 116.31162 to NRS
11 116.31168, and by incorporation, NRS 107.090.

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