IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 350 DURANGO 104

Appellant,

VS.

WELLS FARGO HOME MORTGAGE, N.A..

Respondent.

Case No.: 68630

Electronically Filed
District Court: Jan 19 2016 01:08 p.m.
A-13-688410-CTracie K. Lindeman

Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Ronald J. Israel

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Andrew M. Jacobs
Nevada Bar No. 12787
Kelly H. Dove
Nevada Bar No. 10569
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100
Las Vegas, NV 89169

Telephone: (702) 784-5200 Facsimile: (702) 784-5252 <u>ajacobs@swlaw.com</u>

kdove@swlaw.com

Attorneys for Wells Fargo Bank Home Mortgage, N.A.

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

Summary of the Argument

While *SFR v. U.S. Bank* decided some of the issues raised in Nevada's deluge of HOA superpriority lien litigation, several important issues of first impression remain for this Court's determination. This appeal raises several of those issues. None were addressed in, much less foreclosed by, *SFR v. U.S. Bank*, and each provides a basis to affirm the district court's dismissal of the Complaint.

<u>First</u>, as the district court correctly ruled, NRS 116.3116 violates the Due Process Clauses of the United States and Nevada Constitutions by appropriating a lender's property interest without notice. (*See* Section I., *below*, at pages 8-17).

Second, NRS 116.3116 violates the Takings Clause of the United States and Nevada Constitutions by appropriating a lender's property interest without just compensation. (*See* Section II., *below*, at pages 17-25).

Third, the Statute violates Nevada's established public policy of promoting foreclosure alternatives for homeowners, as it allows HOAs to swiftly foreclose on homeowners, without the protections or foreclosure alternatives afforded by the Foreclosure Mediation Program and NRS Chapter 107 and leaving borrowers indebted to their lenders – but without the ability to use their primary asset, the property, to satisfy that debt. (*See* Section III., *below*, at pages 26-32).

<u>Fourth</u>, even setting aside the Statute's many constitutional and public policy infirmities, this Court should affirm because the sale for \$6,900 was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law. (*See* Section IV., *below*, at pages 32-41).

This Court should affirm.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's granting a motion to dismiss de novo. Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).

Argument

I. The Statute Is Facially Void and Unenforceable Because It Violates Constitutional Due Process Rights and Fails to Require Actual Notice to Lenders of the Potential Loss of Their Security Interest.

The Statute is an unconstitutional piece of legislation, both on its face and as applied. There is no question that "state procedures for creating and enforcing attachments, as with liens, 'are subject to the strictures of due process." *Connecticut v. Doehr*, 501 U.S. 1, 12 (1991) (citations omitted). A review of what

liens are – and of the many cases holding lien statutes unconstitutional where they empower lienors to impair property rights without providing notice or the need for a hearing – makes clear that the Statute violates the Due Process Clause.

A. The Statute Is Unconstitutional Because It Doesn't Afford Prior Notice or a Hearing to the Party Whose Property Rights Are Impaired by the Foreclosure of the Later-Arising HOA Lien, in Violation of Basic Lien Law.

Liens are constitutional when they impair a property right with notice and an opportunity to be heard – not when they deprive an individual of property without notice or a hearing, as the Statute does, and did to Wells Fargo here. The basic rule in lien law is first in time, first in right, meaning that a recorded interest has priority over later recorded interest. U.S. By & Through I.R.S. v. McDermott, 507 U.S. 447, 449 (1993) ("Absent provision to the contrary, priority for purposes of federal law is governed by the common-law principle that 'the first in time is the first in right.""). There are exceptions to this rule. Certain liens, such as property tax liens and mechanics' liens can have priority over previously recorded interests. See, e.g., McDermott, 507 U.S. at 449; State Dep't of Taxation v. Kawahara, 351 P.3d 746, 748 (2015); J.E. Dunn Nw., Inc. v. Corus Const. Venture, LLC, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 249 P.3d 501, 505 (2011) (discussing the priority of mechanics' liens). Yet when the government forecloses on a property tax lien, it is required to give notice to the party whose property interest will be

erased by that foreclosure. See, e.g., Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 465 U.S. 791 (1983); Covey v. Town of Somers, 351 U.S. 141 (1956).

And when a mechanic's lien is foreclosed, it can impair or extinguish a previously recorded property interest, but the validity of that extinguishment rests upon notice, either through judicial foreclosure of the lien, or the open and notorious nature of the work giving rise to it, which thus afford the holder of the previously recorded property interest actual notice of the work giving rise to the mechanic's lien. *See In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 53, 289 P.3d 1199, 1212 (2012); *Hardy Companies, Inc. v. SNMARK, LLC*, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 49, 245 P.3d 1149, 1157 (2010). By foreclosing Wells Fargo's prior-recorded mortgage interest without notice, the Statute violates basic precepts of lien law, thus flouting guarantees of due process.

A line of cases holding lien statutes unconstitutional for lack of notice and a chance to be heard makes very clear that the Statute is unconstitutional. For example, Maryland's highest court struck down the nation's oldest mechanic's lien law (dating to 1791), because the statute created liens that "temporarily deprive[d] a debtor of a significant property interest" without actual notice to the party whose rights were impaired or a prior hearing. *Barry Properties v. Fick Bros.*, 242 A.2d 222, 232 (Md. 1976). Deprivation of a property interest without notice or a hearing meant the lien statute violated the Due Process Clause, and was

unconstitutional. *Id.* The Barry court was clear that there was state action, implicating the Due Process Clause: "[w]e think it clear that mechanics' liens involve state action since they are created, regulated and enforced by the State. *Id.* at 228 (citations omitted). So it must be here. The Statute does not temporarily deprive Wells Fargo of a property interest – it extinguishes it forever. The Statute does not require notice or a hearing before extinguishment, as the Due Process Clause would require. And it is undisputed that the HOA gave Wells Fargo no notice of its sale here. So as applied in this case, if the Statute authorized what the HOA did in selling the Ellis home and extinguishing Wells Fargo's property interest, it is unconstitutional. And the Statute is state action, as drafted by Nevada's Legislature and construed by its courts. See Barry, 242 A.2d at 228; Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc. v. Florida Dep't of Envtl. Prot., 560 U.S. 702, 715 (2010) ("But the particular state actor is irrelevant. If a legislature or a court declares that what was once an established right of private property no longer exists, it has taken that property...").

Many other courts have likewise invalidated lien statutes that, like the Statute, conferred power on private actors to impair other persons' property rights without notice, without a hearing, or both. Where Connecticut passed a law under which mechanic's liens could be filed and perfected "without authorization, supervision, or control by a judicial officer," and provided no right to hearing by

the party whose property was liened, that law violated the Due Process Clause because it failed to given a hearing. Roundhouse Const. Corp. v. Telesco Masons Supplies Co., A.2d 393, 394 (Conn. 1976). Nevada's landlord lien laws were held unconstitutional to the extent they allowed deprivation of property by a landlord against a tenant without notice or a hearing. Adams v. Joseph F. Sanson Inv. Co., 376 F. Supp. 61, 68-69 (D. Nev. 1974). California's Innkeeper's Lien Law proved unconstitutional under the Due Process Clause where it permitted a private party to create a lien without a hearing before the lien was imposed. Klim v. Jones, 315 F. Supp. 109, 122 (N.D. Cal. 1970). Klim correctly emphasized the state action in fashioning this private lien, calling it "action encouraged, indeed only made possible, by explicit state action." Id. at 114. Finally, Georgia's statute authorizing all liens on personalty was held unconstitutional because it did not require notice or a hearing before the lienor deprived someone of their interest in their property, and thus did not provide due process. Mason v. Garris, 360 F. Supp. 420, 423 (N.D. Ga.) amended, 364 F. Supp. 452 (N.D. Ga. 1973).

By contrast, drafting a lien statute that does not violate the Due Process Clause is a straightforward endeavor. All you need to do is provide the notice and a chance to be heard that all the foregoing invalid statutes lacked. Thus, Maryland's condominium lien statute was valid where interested parties had notice and an opportunity to object. *Golden Sands Club Condo., Inc. v. Waller*, 545 A.2d

1332, 1338 (Md. 1988). And, while Washington and Nevada alone permit HOA liens to extinguish prior recorded property interests, such as a lender's under a mortgage, both only permit extinguishment where there is notice to the deed of trust holder, and a right to redeem. Compare Wash. Rev. Code §§ 64.34.364(4), (7) with BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. v. Fulbright, 328 P.3d 895, 901 (Wash. 2014). See NRS 116.3116 (amended effective October 1, 2015) (requiring service of Notice of Default and Election to Sell and Notice of Sale upon all lienholders, and giving property owner and first lien holder a 60 day right of redemption). And it's important to note that Nevada's Legislature *unanimously* repealed the features of the Statute that made it violate the Due Process Clause in its first session after the Nevada Supreme Court issued SFR v. U.S. Bank, underscoring that the Statute was being used in a way that violates constitutional and national norms of due process.1

_

Nineteen other states don't have this problem, because their versions of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act follow the principle of first in time, first in right: they do not permit HOA liens when foreclosed to jump ahead of and extinguish first deeds of trust. *See* Ala. Code § 35-81-316 (Alabama); A.S. § 34.08.470 (Alaska); C.R.S. § 38-33.3-316 (Colorado); C.G.S.A. § 47-258 (Connecticut); 25 Del.C. § 81-316 (Delaware); Fla. Stat. § 718.116(5)(a) (Florida); H.R.S. § 514B-146 (Hawaii); 765 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 605/9 (Illinois); Md. Code Real Prop. § 11-110(f)(2), (3) (Maryland); M.G.L.A. 183A § 6(c) (Massachusetts); M.S.A. § 515B.3-116 (Minnesota); N.H. Rev. Stat. § 356-B:46 (New Hampshire); N.J. Stat. § 46:8B-21(b) (New Jersey); Or. Rev. Stat. § 94.709, 100.450 (Oregon); 27A V.S.A. § 3-116 (Vermont); W.Va. Code § 36-B-116 (West Virginia); 68 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 3315(b)(2), 5315(b)(2) (Pennsylvania); Tenn. Code § 66-27-415(b)(2)(A) (Tennessee). That no other state in America ever had a HOA lien

In sum, the Statute here is like the five above-described lien statutes that were held unconstitutional, but even worse. It allowed the HOA to place a lien, and extinguish outright and in perpetuity Wells Fargo's property interest, all without notice or a hearing to protect it. Meanwhile, a host of other statutes in this area comport with due process, as do lien statutes generally, for they confer notice and the chance for a hearing where they impair property rights. There is no doubt that the Statute violates due process.

B. The Statute's Answer to the Notice Requirement – a Weak Provision Affording Notice Only if the Lienholder Asks for It First – Does Not Redeem the Statute, for It Does Not Provide Constitutionally Due Process.

While the constitutional law of liens requires notice before property rights are impaired, the Statute makes an attempt to meet that notice requirement – albeit a weak attempt that fails to pass constitutional muster. This weak answer is housed within NRS 116.31163, .31165, and .31168, which together – instead of requiring affirmative notice to lenders – provide "opt-in" notice by permitting persons with an interest in the property, like Wells Fargo, to *request* notice in advance of a foreclosure sale by submitting written notices of their own to the HOA.

The Supreme Court has made clear that such haphazard and half-hearted gestures in the direction of notice are not constitutionally sufficient. *See, e.g., Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 465 U.S. 791, 798 (1983) (finding tax lien law operating like the Statute strongly suggests that it cannot fit within the fabric of American lien law at all.*

statute unconstitutional: "Notice by mail or other means as certain to ensure actual notice is a minimum constitutional precondition to a proceeding which will adversely affect the liberty or property interests of any party, whether unlettered or well versed in commercial practice.") (emphasis added). In Mennonite, the Supreme Court struck down an Indiana statute that merely provided notice by publication to lienholders whose first liens on property would be extinguished by the sale of a tax lien sale of the property in question. 465 U.S. at 798. The dissenters defended the statute on the grounds that notice by publication and posting would give sophisticated commercial actors constructive notice of tax sales. 465 U.S. at 808 (O'Connor, J., dissenting) (arguing for constructive notice standard, noting "approximately 95% of the mortgage debt outstanding in the United States is held" by large, sophisticated commercial actors). But the Court rejected that reasoning decisively, finding "actual notice is a minimum constitutional precondition to a proceeding which will adversely affect the liberty or property interests of any party, whether unlettered or well versed in commercial practice..." 465 U.S. at 800. Just as the tax sale statute in *Mennonite* violated the Due Process Clause, so does the Statute here, given its lack of provision for actual notice. See also Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950) ("when notice is a person's due, process which is a mere gesture is not due process.")

Courts following *Mennonite* have specifically rejected "opt-in" notice as constitutionally insufficient – just as this Court should. See Small Engine Shop, Inc. v. Cascio, 878 F.2d 883, 893 (5th Cir. 1989); see also Davis Oil Co. v. Mills, 873 F.2d 774, 787-88 (5th Cir. 1989). In *Small Engine Shop*, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit conducted an in-depth analysis of Louisiana's "opt-in" clause contained in its real property foreclosure statute, which – like the Statute – require no notice to interested parties unless they affirmatively requested it beforehand. Id. at 885-886. On appeal, the Fifth Circuit recognized that Louisiana's burden-shifting – from the party impairing property rights to the party whose rights stood to be impaired – was at the center of the controversy. The court analyzed the validity of the statute through the lenses of Mennonite and Mullane. Id. at 888. The court ultimately held that the statute "as interpreted by the district court, cannot be squared with Mennonite's allocation of notice burdens." Id. at 890; see also Davis Oil Co., 873 F.2d at 787-88 (reaching an identical conclusion). Specifically, because in *Mennonite* "the Supreme Court held that any owner of property subject to deprivation must receive 'notice by mail or other means as certain to ensure actual notice," the state by statute may not "prospectively shift the entire burden of ensuring adequate notice to the property owner regardless of the circumstances." Small Engine Shop, Inc., 878 F.2d at 883-84 (citing Mennonite, 462 U.S. at 797). The Statute here is no different, and

allows those with property interests the right only to be heard "on demand," which it cannot do. The Statute's opt-in notice provisions violate due process, and this Court should declare them, and the Statute, unconstitutional under the Due Process Clause.

II. The Statute Effects a Delegated Private-Actor Taking that Entirely Ousts Wells Fargo, and Thus Violates the Takings Clauses of the United States and Nevada Constitutions.

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